
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

Budget and Finance Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 

Tuesday 15 January 2013 at 7.30 pm 
Committee Room 4, Brent Town Hall, Forty Lane, 
Wembley, HA9 9HD 
 
 
Membership: 
 
Members first alternates second alternates 
Councillors: Councillors: Councillors: 
   
Hopkins (Chair) Ashraf Cummins 
A Choudry (Vice-Chair) Chohan Moloney 
Brown Green Lorber 
S Choudhary Chohan Moloney 
Naheerathan McLennan Oladapo 
HB Patel BM Patel HM Patel 
Ketan Sheth Denselow Gladbaum 
Van Kalwala Allie Daly 
 
 
For further information contact: Lisa Weaver, Democratic Services Officer 
020 8937 1358, lisa.weaver@brent.gov.uk 
 
For electronic copies of minutes, reports and agendas, and to be alerted when the 
minutes of this meeting have been published visit: 

www.brent.gov.uk/committees 
 
The press and public are welcome to attend this meeting 
 

Public Document Pack



 

2 
 

Agenda 
 
Introductions, if appropriate. 
 
Apologies for absence and clarification of alternate members 
 

Item Page 
 

1 Declarations of personal and prejudicial interests  
 

 

 Members are invited to declare at this stage of the meeting, any relevant 
financial or other interest in the items on this agenda. 
 

 

2 Deputations (if any)  
 

 

3 Minutes of the previous meeting  
 

1 - 6 

4 Matters arising  
 

 

5 Environment and Neighbourhood  
 

To 
follow 

 A report to provide members with an update on issues relating to the West 
London Waste Authority and actions being taken to reduce the amount of waste 
being sent to landfill. 
 

 

6 Budget Update  
 

 

 The Deputy Director of Finance will provide members with an update on the 
latest budget position and issues relating to the development of the 2013/14 
budget. 
 

 

 Ward Affected: All Wards Contact Officer: Mick Bowden, Deputy 
Director of Finance 

 

   Tel: 020 8937 1460  

   mick.bowden@brent.gov.uk  

7 First Interim Report Discussion  
 

7 - 10 

 Members to discuss and finalise the committees first interim report.  An extract 
of the minutes from the First Reading debate discussion at Full Council has been 
attached for information. 
 

 

8 Any Other Urgent Business  
 

 

 Notice of items to be raised under this heading must be given in writing to 
the Democratic Services Manager or his representative before the 

 



 

3 
 

meeting in accordance with Standing Order 64. 
 

9 Date of Next Meeting  
 

 

 The next scheduled meeting of the Committee is on 5 February 2013.  
 

 

 
 

� Please remember to SWITCH OFF your mobile phone during the meeting. 
• The meeting room is accessible by lift and seats will be provided for 

members of the public. 
• Toilets are available on the second floor. 
• Catering facilities can be found on the first floor near the Paul Daisley Hall. 
• A public telephone is located in the foyer on the ground floor, opposite the 

Porters’ Lodge 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
MINUTES OF THE BUDGET AND FINANCE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

Tuesday 4 December 2012 at 7.30 pm 
 
 

PRESENT: Councillors Hopkins, A Choudry, S, Choudhary, Naheerathan, Van Kalwala 
Sheth, HB Patel and Brown.  

 
Also present: Councillor Butt 

 
 

 
1. Declarations of personal and prejudicial interests  

 
None. 
 

2. Deputations (if any)  
 
There were no deputations. 
 

3. Minutes of the previous meeting  
 
RESOLVED:- 
 
that the minutes of the previous meeting held on 15 November 2012 be approved 
as an accurate record of the meeting. 
 

4. Matters arising (if any)  
 
With reference to the minute of the discussion on the Adult Social Care department, 
clarity was sought as to whether the £5m cost associated with implementing the 
living wage applied to the whole organisation or just to the individual department. 
Councillor Butt (Leader of the Council) confirmed that the figure quoted applied only 
to the Adult Social Care department.  
 
The Chair noted that at the previous meeting members’ had asked a number of 
detailed questions around fly tipping, waste and other issues to which answers 
were to be provided following the meeting. The requested information had since 
been circulated to the committee, with the exception of the information required by 
Councillor S Choudhary which would follow shortly. 
 

5. Children and Families  
 
Krutika Pau (Director of Children and Families) delivered a presentation to the 
committee, updating members on the current budgetary issues affecting the 
department.  Following a brief overview of the organisation and work of the 
department, Krutika Pau set out the overall budget position for 2010/11 through to 
2012/13.  The committee was advised that there had been an overspend against 
the general fund budget of £373,000 in 2010/11; however, for 2011/12 there had 
been an overall underspend which had allowed the redirection of funds towards 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



2 
Budget and Finance Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 4 December 2012 

children’s social care unit to accommodate the overspend in this area. Similarly, the 
department was currently on track to deliver a balanced budget for 2012/13; 
however, there remained a need to redirect funds towards children’s social care to 
meet the demand-led pressure on the placements service. Mustafa Salih (Assistant 
Director Strategic Finance, Children and Families) explained that in addition to 
several service pressures and the required savings that all areas of the council had 
been required to make, Children and Families had been further and 
disproportionately affected by the cuts to and cessation of specific grants from 
central government.  
 
Krutika Pau explained that several strategies had been employed to mitigate the 
pressure on the placements service. Action had been taken to reduce the number 
of Looked After Children (LAC) placed with independent foster cares, partially by 
expanding the in house foster care provision. A new methodology for assessing risk 
had also been implemented and, whilst child protection thresholds remained 
unchanged and robust, this had led to a reduction in the number of children being 
placed on child protection plans. This methodology was now considered best 
practice. There had also been a greater emphasis on obtaining permanency earlier 
for LAC, thereby reducing their time in the care system, as well as the associated 
costs. In the longer term, the council was in the process of developing its 
preventative early help services, which were being progressed via the one council 
project ‘working with families’. The department had been successful in reducing the 
unit cost of supporting children in the care system in Brent by 16% between 2010 
and 2013, whilst the number of children had increased by over 150 over this period. 
Brent was currently working actively with the West London Alliance to renegotiate 
contracts with providers to further reduce the unit cost.  
 
Krutika Pau drew members attention to the Children’s Social Care benchmarking 
data provided, explaining that whilst it was useful to make comparisons with other 
councils, due to different departmental structures, it was difficult to do so accurately. 
The comparisons that had been included reflected those examples for which data 
was available in a similar format. With reference to the figures for Ealing, Krutika 
Pau advised that if Brent were to spend the same per child as Ealing, it would 
equate to an additional budget pressure of £2m.  
 
During Members’ discussion the Committee requested clarification around the 
national framework for adoption, the costs associated with in-house foster care 
placements and how the changes to immigration regulations would impact the work 
of the Children and Families department. With reference to the savings targets 
outlined in the presentation, members sought assurance from the Director of 
Children and Families that these were realistic targets to pursue. It was observed 
that there had been an overspend for the placements budget consistently over the 
three year period under discussion and several members of the committee 
commented that it was important to get the basic budget positions correct. It was 
felt that setting a true  figure from the outset was crucial, in order to ensure that the 
executive, other members and officers were alerted to the probable need for action 
as soon as possible. This might then allow adjustments to be made elsewhere and 
would also increase the possibility of redressing shortfall and overspend.   With 
reference to the benchmarking data, the committee requested an explanation of the 
large disparity with Westminster’s figures and queried whether there was a 
correlation between the quality of care and the level of expenditure per child.  
 

Page 2



3 
Budget and Finance Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 4 December 2012 

Responding to the committee’s queries, Krutika Pau advised that whilst the savings 
targets for the department were ambitious, and some might be difficult to meet, they 
would be closely monitored and reviewed if necessary. The disparity in Children 
and Families departmental spending between Brent and other boroughs such as 
Westminster reflected the fact that they were better resourced and had greater 
levels of available funding, as well as smaller populations; Brent was the fifth 
largest borough in London. At present, there were 338 LAC in Brent, although the 
total number in the care system, which included children on child protection plans 
and care leavers, was greater. The costs of foster care placements as set out in the 
presentation to the committee did not include associated administration costs; 
however, taking these into consideration in-house foster care placements remained 
the most cost-effective option. One of the factors contributing to the pressure on the 
placements service was recent changes to immigration legislation, which extended 
the age range of unaccompanied minors for which the council had a social care 
responsibility.  
 
With regard to adoption, Krutika Pau advised that there was considerable national 
regulation and external scrutiny of children’s social care. Brent had been subject to 
6 Ofsted inspections within 2 years, the most recent of which had been an 
unannounced inspection of LAC and Safeguarding services in November 2012. 
This scrutiny did provide an opportunity to showcase some of the good work that 
Brent was doing but the inspection framework had been changed and the required 
standards raised, at the same time that funding for these services had been cut.  In 
2011, the government had also introduced the Adoption Score Card. It was 
explained that there were a number of required timescales for adoption and it was a 
general requirement that following the decision to place a child for adoption, the 
process was completed as soon as possible. There had been significant 
improvements in Brent’s performance against the statutory timescales for adoption 
and it was emphasised that a suitable balance was maintained between meeting 
the timescales for the process and achieving a good match for the child and 
prospective adopter. Unfortunately, the improvement in Brent’s performance had 
not yet been reflected in the score card as it was measured as a three year 
average.  
 
Members agreed that an explanation of the rationale behind the department’s 
savings targets should be provided to the committee. The Chair added that it was 
also important for the committee to understand the timescales and risk assessment 
processes in place for reviewing the targets set. Councillor Choudry requested 
further detail in relation to the demographic data presented to the committee. 
Councillor Brown requested that benchmarking data be provided for Brent’s 
statistical neighbours. 
 
RESOLVED: -  
 
i. that the report be noted 
ii. that an update be provided to the committee at a future meeting 
 

6. One Council Programme  
 
Peter Stachniewski, Head of the One Council Programme, presented a report to the 
committee updating members on the financial benefits and costs of the One Council 
Programme and its role within the Medium Term Financial Strategy. The One 

Page 3



4 
Budget and Finance Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 4 December 2012 

Council Programme had been launched in 2009 and was designed to 
fundamentally change and improve the way that the council carried out its business 
whilst limiting the impact of budget reductions on Brent residents. An overview of 
the current Programme and proposed new projects was attached at Appendix 1 for 
members’ information. Over its initial four year period the programme was tasked 
with delivering savings of between £90m and £100m.  The Programme had thus far 
delivered cumulative financial benefits of £41.2m per annum by the end of 2011/12. 
It was anticipated that for 2012/13, the financial benefits of the Programme would 
amount to a further £13.4m, bringing the cumulative total to £54.6m per annum.  
Although this was £1.1m short of the budgeted benefits of £55.7m target, other 
measures taken meant that the council’s overall budget was forecast to be in 
balance in 2012/13.. Members’ attention was drawn to paragraph 4.3 of the report 
which set out the reasons for the shortfall in 2012/13. By 2014/15 the cumulative 
benefits were budgeted at £77.9m per annum; however, it was expected that by 
2013/14 there would be a shortfall of £1.029m and this would rise to £2.371m by 
2014/15. Several measures were being pursued to address this gap, including the 
possibility of achieving additional savings via procurement, further managing down 
service demand via the Improving Waste Management project and reviewing 
existing projects, particularly the Realignment of Corporate and Business Support 
project, to identify any further possible savings.  
 
Peter Stachniewski highlighted a number of high-risk areas to the committee. In 
particular, the savings associated with the integration of Health and Social Care had 
been calculated based on the business case developed; however, should the 
integration not go ahead, alternative means of delivering these savings were being 
considered. The savings associated with the improved early help services were 
also difficult to fully estimate. These savings were therefore ambitious and would 
need to be closely monitored. The committee was further advised that the impact of 
the Welfare reforms on the council’s temporary accommodation budget was likely to 
be significant, despite policy changes which had been implemented to minimise the 
weight of these changes.   
 
In the subsequent discussion the committee queried whether the challenging 
financial targets set for the various One Council projects were achievable and 
confirmation was sought of the planned duration of the overall One Council 
programme. Members further questioned the efforts being made to maximise the 
council’s income and raised queries on parking charges, the level of debt recovery 
and the number of successful Parking Charge Notices (PCN) appeals. Additional 
details were also requested in relation to how the variation for the Transitions to 
Adult Life project for 2012/13 had been absorbed. 
 
In response to members’ queries, Peter Stachniewski advised that the financial 
targets had different types of risk associated with them. The savings relating to the 
integration of health and social care were considered high risk, not because the 
targets were difficult to achieve but because they depended on the integration 
taking place. In contrast, the risk relating to children’s social care sprung from the 
nature of the work undertaken by the service; it only took the arrival of one or two 
complex cases to significantly increase the expenditure of the department despite 
the successful deployment of various cost containing measures. The council 
pursued a risk based approach to setting the budget and within this it was 
appropriate to set challenging targets. Elizabeth Jones (Assistant Director of 
Finance) further explained that the planned savings for the Transition to Adult Life 

Page 4



5 
Budget and Finance Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 4 December 2012 

service would be made going forward but could not be achieved during the early 
stages of the implementation of the new team structure.  
  
Addressing members’ questions on the maximisation of income, Peter Stachniewski 
explained that the figures quoted included the charge increases that had been 
made across the council; however, the council was restricted in the range of 
services for which it could charge. A new corporate policy for debt recovery had 
been introduced and improvements made in this area. At present, the council 
recovered approximately 69% of PCN related charges and there was a work stream 
within the related one council project to examine this. As part of this effort, the 
council was working to ensure that appeals against PCN’s were held in time; 
otherwise the debt could not be recovered.  
 
Phil Newby advised the committee that the one council programme had initially 
been envisaged as lasting until the end of the government’s comprehensive 
spending review period, 2011/12 to 2014/15. It was now expected that local 
government would be required by central government to continue to achieve further 
savings and the one council programme offered Brent a systematic approach to 
making these savings. Project delivery costs met by the One Council Programme 
were estimated to be£12.7m overall by 2014/15, whereas the on-going financial 
benefits  would amount to £78m per annum.  
 
With reference to the Waste and Street Cleansing one council project, Councillor 
Brown requested further information on why the targets on waste reduction had not 
been met and what further actions were being taken to meet the targets. It was 
agreed that these questions would be  put to Sue Harper (Director of Environment 
and Neighbourhoods Services) at the following meeting.  
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the report be noted. 
  
 

7. Budget Update  
 
Mick Bowden, Deputy Director of Finance and Corporate Services, noted that the 
council was currently awaiting the Chancellor of the Exchequer’s autumn statement 
and that until this information and the local government finance settlement was 
received the budgetary position remained the same as reported at the previous 
meeting. It was highlighted that the budget monitoring information that had been 
requested at the previous meeting had been circulated to members and feedback 
on the format was welcomed.  
 
With reference to the outcome of a recent equal pay case against Birmingham City 
Council, the Chair queried whether Brent was at risk of a similar judgement being 
brought against it. Mick Bowden confirmed that Fiona Ledden (The Director of 
Legal and Procurement) was currently examining the case to identify if there were 
any implications for Brent council.  
 
In response to a query from the committee, Mick Bowden advised that the West 
London Waste Authority (WLWA), in response to difficulties with its 2011/12 
accounts, had developed an action plan to manage and recover its finances. The 

Page 5



6 
Budget and Finance Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 4 December 2012 

council had been contacted in late October 2012 by the WLWA with the information 
that it was unable to deliver on this plan and that it would have a shortfall of £2.6m 
in the current year, which increased to £3.6m with a level of prudence. An additional 
levy was therefore being made of all councils to meet this shortfall, which equated 
to £609k for Brent’s share. The council’s break-even budgetary position allowed for 
this additional levy and the report to the December Executive set out the position. It 
was expected that the levy in 2013/14 would increase by at least £800k.Future 
arrangements for the financial administration of the WLWA are currently being 
considered. 
 
Members further queried whether the council’s income targets had been achieved 
overall and sought further details in relation to the impact of concessionary fares. 
Mick Bowden advised that in general across the council income targets were being 
met. In relation to concessionary fares, the council was examining the figures 
recently obtained from London Councils but had allowed for a significant increase 
within the existing budget forecast.  
 
Councillor A Choudry thanked Mick Bowden for the budget monitoring information 
provided to the committee and advised that the format in which the data had been 
provided was good but that further commentary should be provided. The main 
headline figures should be commented on and variances explained to assist the 
committee’s understanding.  
 
 

8. Any Other Urgent Business  
 
There was no urgent business.  
 
The Chair asked the committee to give consideration to recommendations to be 
included in the Annual Report, so that these might be included in the draft report 
and discussed at the next meeting.  
 
 

9. Date of Next Meeting  
 
The committee noted that the next meeting of the committee was scheduled for 15 
January 2012.  
 

 
 
The meeting closed at 9.45 pm 
 
 
 
A HOPKINS 
Chair 
 

Page 6



Extract of Full Council Minute 19 November 2012 
First reading debate on the 2013/14 - 2016/17 budget 
 
Councillor Butt stated that the budget marked a vital turning point for Brent.  
He suggested that two years ago few predicted the recession would last so 
long or how vindictive the Government’s welfare cuts would be towards the 
most vulnerable people in the community; few predicted the Government 
would target local government to take the brunt of the cuts and he felt this was 
a recipe for social damage on a scale not seen since the Second World War 
and would leave a generation of young people permanently scarred by 
unemployment.  Councillor Butt felt this was an ideological experiment 
designed by the coalition parties but one which would fail.  He stated that in 
Brent there was a strong community focus and that the residents of the 
borough would not forgive the coalition government for the damage inflicted 
on the community.  However, he stated that he had a personal commitment to 
improve the lives of the residents of the borough and that was what the 
Labour Party was doing in Brent.  A package of reforms would be brought 
forward that would help protect the most vulnerable residents based on the 
fundamental idea that local people could only weather the storm if they were 
united and given the resilience and protection that only a community could 
create.  The package would put fairness, jobs, growth and community at the 
heart of everything the Council did.  It would increase the pay of the lowest 
paid workers, and campaign for the private sector to do the same, bring 
forward plans to reduce the cost of energy for all residents, tackle the problem 
of slum housing in Brent and focus on jobs and growth.  The Council would 
bring forward a coherent strategy to support the high streets and local 
businesses and strengthen the relationships with businesses. A new deal for 
the voluntary and community sector would be developed to transform the lives 
of the most troubled families and begin the task of tackling health inequality in 
the Borough.  The biggest school building program was underway in the 
borough.  It would be through all these measures that the Council would act 
as the last line of defence for residents by protecting local schools, business 
and services.  Councillor Butt pointed out that between 2010 and 2014 the 
budget had been reduced by 28% and the Government’s failed austerity 
policies would mean the cuts would continue after 2015 with a predicted 7% 
cut every year until 2020 at least.  He stated that more residents would find 
themselves relying on Council services as they struggled to find work and 
inflation eroded their living standards.  The ageing population and high birth 
rate in the borough meant spending on children’s and adult’s social care was 
increasing dramatically.  Resolving this would require the complete 
transformation of the Council as an organisation and the way in which it 
delivered services to residents.  Resources would be shifted from treating 
problems to preventing them happening, savings would be sought from 
contractors and providers, inefficiency, duplication and waste would be dealt 
with and the levels of charges and the frequency of services would be 
reviewed.  Councillor Butt commended the strategy he had outlined and as 
detailed in the reports before members. 
 
Councillor Lorber responded saying that people were fed up hearing the 
messages the Leader had delivered.  He reminded the meeting that the 

Agenda Item 7

Page 7



previous Labour chancellor had said that whoever won the general election 
would have to make the biggest cuts ever and that the previous Labour 
government had used £60B to bail out the banks, much of which would never 
be returned.  More recently Labour politicians had said they would be ruthless 
about controlling public spending and had spoken of cutting benefits as a way 
of getting people into work, so he felt there should be no surprise that the 
government was following this course of action.  The aim was to promote 
fairness and this could not be done if people were locked into a culture of 
dependency.  People in the lowest income bands had been taken out of the 
tax net and Councillor Lorber contrasted this with the cuts imposed on grants 
to voluntary organisations at a time when the voluntary sector should be 
empowered to support local communities.  He referred to people being unable 
to park close to local traders without being fined and to the condition of the 
streets following the decisions taken to reduce the street sweeping service. 
Councillor Lorber pointed out that the Leader’s speech had made no 
reference to improving the performance of the Council and making positive 
proposals to support local businesses and communities.   
 
Councillor Kansagra stated that the cuts had been made necessary by the 
previous Labour government’s excessive spending.  Nevertheless he stated 
that employment in the private sector was rising and the Council was still able 
to deliver good services showing that there had been economies to make.  
There had been alternatives to closing six libraries and the parking situation 
was forcing the closure of local shops.  He suggested that the first ½ hour of 
parking should be free of charge.  Councillor Kansagra referred to the new 
arrangements for the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) which had seen a 
large injection of cash by the Government and it was now necessary to 
ensure the proper management of Brent Housing Partnership.  He felt ways 
could have been found to maintain grants to the voluntary sector.  He 
supported the principles behind the initiative for controlling energy prices but 
pointed out that the Government had already taken the initiative on this and it 
should not be for the Council to get involved in private business ventures.  
Councillor Kansagra submitted that it was not fair that a working family paying 
taxes should receive less income than a family not working.  This made it 
necessary to cap benefits.  He felt that the Council should accept the Council 
tax freeze grant again made available by the Government. 
 
In response to the comments made about parking charges, Councillor J 
Moher stated that the Council was reviewing its parking charges.  A point was 
made about the scale of the cuts, rather than the need to make cuts.  It was 
pointed out that in the last two years the Council had achieved a lot but 
continued to face many challenges.  The priorities were to provide jobs and 
school places.  It would be necessary to look strategically at how services 
were provided.  
 
A view was submitted that it was a tribute to the Government that it had 
managed to reduce the deficit from the level inherited from the previous 
government.  In contrast to the views of the Leader it was suggested that the 
Council had broken community spirit by closing libraries, not listening to the 
views of people, not reducing parking charges and cutting the maintenance of 

Page 8



streets and pavements.  A more widely supported view was expressed that 
parking charges were killing-off local businesses and that only small local 
businesses could provide the growth needed in the borough.  Another aspect 
raised was the importance of providing affordable homes.  It was submitted 
that the refinancing of the HRA should allow for new homes to be built.  
Another idea put forward was to provide outdoor fitness equipment in parks.  
It was submitted that it would serve the Council well to remember that it was 
there to serve the whole of the borough.   
 
Councillor Butt thanked members for their input and noted the views 
expressed.  He reminded the meeting that employment opportunities had 
already opened up through the regeneration of a number of areas in the 
borough; that the Council already had a £80M school building programme; 
that the closure of some libraries had allowed for an improved service to be 
provided and that the Council had to be fair in which organisations it grant-
aided. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(i) that the broad budgetary priorities set out in the report from the 

Executive be noted, and 
 
(ii) that the issues raised in the First Reading debate be noted and 

referred to the Budget and Finance Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
as appropriate. 

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	7 First Interim Report Discussion

